

Home Search Collections Journals About Contact us My IOPscience

Holographic duals of Kaluza-Klein black holes

This article has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text article.

JHEP04(2009)061

(http://iopscience.iop.org/1126-6708/2009/04/061)

The Table of Contents and more related content is available

Download details: IP Address: 80.92.225.132 The article was downloaded on 03/04/2010 at 10:33

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

PUBLISHED BY IOP PUBLISHING FOR SISSA

RECEIVED: January 5, 2009 ACCEPTED: March 15, 2009 PUBLISHED: April 16, 2009

# Holographic duals of Kaluza-Klein black holes

Tatsuo Azeyanagi,<sup>a</sup> Noriaki Ogawa<sup>b</sup> and Seiji Terashima<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Physics, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan
<sup>b</sup>Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan
E-mail: aze@gauge.scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp, noriaki@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp, terasima@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We apply Brown-Henneaux's method to the 5D extremal rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes essentially following the calculation of the Kerr/CFT correspondence, which is not based on supersymmetry nor string theory. We find that there are two completely different Virasoro algebras that can be obtained as the asymptotic symmetry algebras according to appropriate boundary conditions. The microscopic entropies are calculated by using the Cardy formula for both boundary conditions and they perfectly agree with the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy. The rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes contain a 4D dyonic Reissner-Nordström black hole and Myers-Perry black hole. Since the D-brane configurations corresponding to these black holes are known, we expect that our analysis will shed some light on deeper understanding of chiral  $CFT_2$ 's dual to extremal black holes.

KEYWORDS: Gauge-gravity correspondence, Black Holes in String Theory, D-branes

ARXIV EPRINT: 0811.4177



## Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	A brief review of Kerr/CFT correspondence	3
3	The rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes	4
4	Near-horizon geometry of extremal rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes	8
<b>5</b>	Boundary conditions and central charges	9
	5.1 Boundary conditions and asymptotic symmetry groups	9
	5.1.1 Two boundary conditions for the metric	9
	5.1.2 The energy constraint	11
	5.2 Central charges	11
6	Temperatures	12
7	Microscopic entropy	13
8	Conclusion and discussion	13

# 1 Introduction

More than ten years have passed since the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy was calculated microscopically by using string theory [1]. The essential strategy for microscopic entropy counting is to construct a black hole geometry by D-branes and then to map the problem of the black hole to a dual boundary field theory on the D-branes. Then by using the BPS properties, we can count the microscopic entropy of the black hole in the weak coupling field theory.

After this accomplishment, this strategy is applied to various kinds of black holes and even other black objects like black rings. In addition to this, the AdS/CFT correspondence, a kind of duality between gravity and field theory, inherits this feature and refines or makes this strategy more stringent in certain setups [2–4].

In the context of AdS/CFT, black hole microstates are investigated mainly by using  $AdS_3/CFT_2$  correspondence since  $AdS_3$  appears as a near-horizon geometry of 5D extremal black holes and  $CFT_2$  is well analyzed. When we consider 4D extremal black holes, on the other hand,  $AdS_2$  naturally appears as a near-horizon geometry. However,  $AdS_2/CFT_1$  is still mysterious because we do not know  $CFT_1$  well. For some context,  $CFT_1$  is regarded as conformal quantum mechanics (CQM) [5–11], while it is as 2D chiral conformal field theory [12–15]. In this paper we investigate the latter.

Going back to the history of the relation between conformal field theory and gravity, in 1986, Brown and Henneaux succeeded in identifying generators of Virasoro algebras living on the boundary of  $AdS_3$  spacetimes with the diffeomorphisms preserving a certain boundary condition [16]. They found that the central charge of the Virasoro algebra is related to the  $AdS_3$  radius. This method is applied to microscopically derive the entropy of the BTZ black hole [17]. Subsequently, related methods were developed [18–21], and in this direction many works were done (for example, [22–25]).

Recently, the entropy of the 4D extremal Kerr black hole was microscopically calculated by applying Brown-Henneaux's method to the near-horizon geometry of it [26]. This is interesting partly because their calculation was not based on supersymmetry nor string theory. However, the Brown-Henneaux's method does not tell us what is the boundary theory, thus it is desired to find the boundary theory explicitly. Microscopic counting of neutral black holes like Kerr black hole, is very difficult in that we do not know how to realize this neutrally charged geometry by D-branes. In [27], the entropy of the 4D extremal Kerr black hole was microscopically calculated by relating it to a rotating Kaluza-Klein (KK) black hole solution formulated in [28–31]. This solution itself is meaningful in that it includes various classes of black holes like the 4D dyonic Reissner-Nordström black hole. Since the rotating KK black holes are constructed as a D0-D6 bound state [32], their entropies are calculable microscopically from the corresponding brane configurations [33, 34].

In this paper, we would like to apply Brown-Henneaux's method to the 5D extremal rotating KK black holes and calculate its entropy microscopically. We essentially follow the calculation of [26]. First we take near-horizon limit for the extremal rotating KK black holes. For this near-horizon geometry, it is shown that two completely different Virasoro algebras can be obtained as the asymptotic symmetry algebras, according to appropriate boundary conditions. These algebras will act on the Hilbert states of the holographic duals of the extremal rotating KK black hole. Although these dual boundary theories are not specified explicitly, the microscopic entropies are calculated using the Cardy formula for both boundary conditions and they perfectly agree with the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy. Therefore we expect that the two boundary conditions correspond to two different consistent holographic duals. Since the D-brane configurations corresponding to these black holes are known, we expect that our analysis will shed some light on deeper understanding of chiral  $CFT_2$ 's dual to extremal black holes.

The organization of this paper is as follows. In section § 2, we review the work [26]. In section § 3, we review the rotating KK black holes. In section § 4 we take the near-horizon limit of the extremal rotating KK black holes. In section § 5, we impose boundary conditions in the asymptotic region and determine the diffeomorphisms which preserve the boundary conditions. We construct Virasoro generators in two ways since the rotating KK black holes contain two U(1) fibers. Then we find the central charges of these Virasoro algebras living on the boundary. In section § 6, we relate the physical parameters of the rotating KK black hole to the effective temperatures of the dual chiral  $CFT_2$ 's and then, in section § 7, we apply the Cardy formula to calculate the entropy microscopically. Finally, in § 8, we summarize our conclusion and give some discussion.

## 2 A brief review of Kerr/CFT correspondence

In [26], it is proposed that the 4D extremal Kerr black hole is dual to a chiral  $CFT_2$ . In the extremal limit [35], the near-horizon geometry is of the form

$$ds^{2} = 2G_{4}J\Omega^{2} \Big( -(1+r^{2})d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{1+r^{2}} + d\theta^{2} + \Lambda^{2}(d\varphi + rd\tau)^{2} \Big),$$
(2.1)

$$\Omega^2 = \frac{1 + \cos^2 \theta}{2}, \quad \Lambda = \frac{2 \sin \theta}{1 + \cos^2 \theta}, \tag{2.2}$$

where J is the angular momentum and  $G_4$  is the 4D Newtonian constant. This angular momentum is related to the ADM mass M of the black hole as  $J = G_4 M^2$  in the extremal limit. For a fixed  $\theta$ , this geometry is the same as a quotient of a warped  $AdS_3$ , which is analyzed in the context of topological massive gravity in 3D [36].

A generator of the Virasoro algebra of the chiral  $CFT_2$  is identified with a class of diffeomorphism which preserves an appropriate boundary condition on the near-horizon geometry. Then it is found that a nontrivial part of the diffeomorphism, or the asymptotic symmetry group (ASG), contains diffeomorphisms of the form

$$\zeta_n = -e^{-in\varphi}\partial_{\varphi} - inre^{-in\varphi}\partial_r \quad (n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \ldots).$$
(2.3)

We notice that  $\zeta_n$  contains  $\partial_{\varphi}$ , not  $\partial_{\tau}$ .

The diffeomorphisms  $\zeta_n$  generate a Virasoro algebra without a central charge

$$i[\zeta_m, \zeta_n] = (m-n)\zeta_{m+n}.$$
(2.4)

By following the covariant formalism of the ASG [37–46], a conserved charge  $Q_{\zeta}$  associated with an element  $\zeta$  is defined by

$$Q_{\zeta} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_d} \int_{\partial \Sigma} k_{\zeta}[h, \bar{g}], \qquad (2.5)$$

where  $\partial \Sigma$  is a spatial surface at infinity and

$$k_{\zeta}[h,\bar{g}] = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \zeta_{\nu} D_{\mu} h - \zeta_{\nu} D^{\sigma} h_{\mu\sigma} + \zeta^{\sigma} D_{\nu} h_{\mu\sigma} + \frac{1}{2} h D_{\nu} \zeta_{\mu} - h_{\nu\sigma} D^{\sigma} \zeta_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} h_{\nu\sigma} (D_{\mu} \zeta^{\sigma} + D^{\sigma} \zeta_{\mu}) \right] *_{d} (dx^{\mu} \wedge dx^{\nu}).$$
(2.6)

Here d is the spacetime dimension (d = 4 in the current case),  $*_d$  represents the Hodge dual,  $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$  is the metric of the background geometry (2.1) and  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is deviation from it. We also notice that the covariant derivative in (2.6) is defined by using  $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . In addition to a charge  $Q_{\zeta_n}$  associated with  $\zeta_n$ , there exists a charge  $Q_{\partial_{\tau}}$  associated with  $\partial_{\tau}$ . Since it measures deviation from the extremality, it is fixed to zero in this case.

Then let us consider the Dirac bracket of  $Q_{\zeta_n}$  under the constraint  $Q_{\partial_{\tau}} = 0$ . It is determined by considering transformation property of the charge  $Q_{\zeta_n}$  under a diffeomorphism generated by  $\zeta_m$ . It then follows that

$$\{Q_{\zeta_m}, Q_{\zeta_n}\}_{\text{Dirac}} = Q_{[\zeta_m, \zeta_n]} + \frac{1}{8\pi G_4} \int_{\partial \Sigma} k_{\zeta_m} [\mathcal{L}_{\zeta_n} \bar{g}, \bar{g}].$$
(2.7)

By redefining the charge as  $\hbar L_n = Q_{\zeta_n} + 3J\delta_{n,0}/2$  and replacing the Dirac bracket  $\{.,.\}$  by a commutator  $-\frac{i}{\hbar}[.,.]$ , we see that  $L_n$  satisfies a Virasoro algebra

$$[L_m, L_n] = (m-n)L_{m+n} + \frac{c}{12}m(m^2 - 1)\delta_{m+n,0}, \qquad (2.8)$$

with the central charge  $c = 12J/\hbar$ .

The temperature of the dual chiral  $CFT_2$  is, on the other hand, determined by identifying quantum numbers in the near horizon geometry with those in the original geometry. This method gives the temperature

$$T = \frac{1}{2\pi}.\tag{2.9}$$

From this, entropy of the 4D Kerr black hole is microscopically calculated via the Cardy formula as

$$S_{micro} = \frac{\pi^2}{3}cT = \frac{2\pi J}{\hbar},\tag{2.10}$$

which agrees with the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy calculated macroscopically.

We note that this dual theory is not like CFT in the usual AdS/CFT correspondence, because  $\phi$  is space-like coordinate and the Virasoro algebra does not contain the time translation generator. Moreover, the isometry of the near horizon geometry does not contain SL(2, R) of the Virasoro algebra. We will see that the Virasoro algebras of the holographic duals of the rotating KK black holes also have this properties.

#### 3 The rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes

In this section we review the rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes [28–31]. This is the 5Duplifted solution of rotating black holes with both electric and magnetic charges in the 4D Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton theory. This solution includes the dyonic (P = Q) Reissner-Nordström black hole in the 4D Einstein-Maxwell theory and the 5D Myers-Perry black hole, as special cases.<sup>1</sup> In terms of string theory, it can be interpreted as a rotating D0-D6 bound state.

We consider the 4D Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton action

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G_4} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \bigg[ \mathcal{R} - 2g^{\mu\nu}\partial_\mu \Phi \partial_\nu \Phi - \frac{1}{4}e^{-2\sqrt{3}\Phi}g^{\mu\alpha}g^{\nu\beta}F_{\mu\nu}F_{\alpha\beta} \bigg].$$
(3.1)

This theory is obtained by a usual Kaluza-Klein reduction of the 5D pure Einstein gravity theory, which is easier to deal with in many cases. In this paper, we will always work on the 5D theory.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Precisely speaking, it corresponds to the Myers-Perry black hole on an orbifolded space  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}/\mathbb{Z}_{N_6}$ , with  $N_6$  an even integer. Details of the transformations are given in [34].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The central charges and the entropy we will obtain do not depend on the Kaluza-Klein radius R. Therefore they would also be valid for very small R compared to the black hole radius, where the masses of the higher Kaluza-Klein modes become very large and the description by (3.1) is expected to be exact. However, for  $\zeta_n^y$  (5.5), which relate massive KK modes, this limit  $R \to 0$  is a little subtle.

In terms of the 5D pure Einstein gravity, the rotating KK solution is written as

$$ds_{(5)}^{2} = \frac{H_{2}}{H_{1}} (R \, d\hat{y} + \mathbf{A})^{2} - \frac{H_{3}}{H_{2}} (d\hat{t} + \mathbf{B})^{2} + H_{1} \left(\frac{d\hat{r}^{2}}{\Delta} + d\theta^{2} + \frac{\Delta}{H_{3}} \sin^{2}\theta \, d\phi^{2}\right), \tag{3.2}$$

in which

$$H_{1} = \hat{r}^{2} + \mu^{2} j^{2} \cos^{2} \theta + \hat{r}(p - 2\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{p}{p + q} (p - 2\mu)(q - 2\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{p}{p + q} \sqrt{(p^{2} - 4\mu^{2})(q^{2} - 4\mu^{2})} j \cos \theta,$$
(3.3)

$$H_2 = \hat{r}^2 + \mu^2 j^2 \cos^2 \theta + \hat{r}(q - 2\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{q}{p+q} (p - 2\mu)(q - 2\mu)$$

$$\frac{1}{q} \sqrt{(-2 - 4\mu^2)(q^2 - 4\mu^2)} i = 0$$
(2.4)

$$-\frac{1}{2}\frac{q}{p+q}\sqrt{(p^2-4\mu^2)(q^2-4\mu^2)}\,j\cos\theta,\tag{3.4}$$

$$H_3 = \hat{r}^2 + \mu^2 j^2 \cos^2 \theta - 2\mu \hat{r}, \tag{3.5}$$

$$\Delta = \hat{r}^2 + \mu^2 j^2 - 2\mu \hat{r}, \tag{3.6}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A} &= -\left[\sqrt{\frac{q(q^2 - 4\mu^2)}{p + q}} \left(\hat{r} + \frac{p - 2\mu}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{q^3(p^2 - 4\mu^2)}{p + q}} j\cos\theta\right] H_2^{-1} d\hat{t} \\ &+ \left[-\sqrt{\frac{p(p^2 - 4\mu^2)}{p + q}} (H_2 + \mu^2 j^2 \sin^2\theta)\cos\theta \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{p(q^2 - 4\mu^2)}{p + q}} \left\{p\hat{r} - \mu(p - 2\mu) + \frac{q(p^2 - 4\mu^2)}{p + q}\right\} j\sin^2\theta H_2^{-1} d\phi, \end{aligned}$$
(3.7)

$$B = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{pq} \frac{(pq+4\mu^2)\hat{r} - \mu(p-2\mu)(q-2\mu)}{p+q} H_3^{-1}j\sin^2\theta \,d\phi,$$
(3.8)

where  $\hat{y} \sim \hat{y} + 2\pi$  and R is the radius of the Kaluza-Klein circle at  $\hat{r} \to \infty$ .<sup>3</sup> After the Kaluza-Klein reduction along  $\hat{y}$  direction, we obtain a 4D black hole of the form

$$ds_{(4)}^{2} = -\frac{H_{3}}{\sqrt{H_{1}H_{2}}}(d\hat{t} + \boldsymbol{B})^{2} + \sqrt{H_{1}H_{2}}\left(\frac{d\hat{r}^{2}}{\Delta} + d\theta^{2} + \frac{\Delta}{H_{3}}\sin^{2}\theta \,d\phi^{2}\right),\tag{3.9}$$

$$e^{2\Phi} = R^2 \sqrt{\frac{H_1}{H_2}},\tag{3.10}$$

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{(4)} = \frac{1}{R}\boldsymbol{A}.$$
(3.11)

The rotating KK solution has four parameters  $(\mu, j, q, p)$ , which correspond to four physical parameters of the reduced 4D black hole, that is, the ADM mass M, angular momentum J, electric charge Q and magnetic charge P. The explicit relations between these parameters are [31]:

$$M = \frac{p+q}{4G_4},\tag{3.12}$$

$$J = \frac{\sqrt{pq}(pq + 4\mu^2)}{4G_4(p+q)}j,$$
(3.13)

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ We follow this form of the solution from [31] and checked that this indeed satisfies 5D Ricci flat condition. Note that there are some typos in [31].

$$Q = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{q(q^2 - 4\mu^2)}{p + q}},\tag{3.14}$$

$$P = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{p(p^2 - 4\mu^2)}{p + q}}.$$
(3.15)

Here we set  $J,Q,P\geq 0$  for simplicity. The possible range of the parameters for regular solutions are

$$0 \le 2\mu \le q, p, \quad 0 \le j \le 1,$$
 (3.16)

and the black hole is extremal when we take  $\mu \to 0$  with j fixed finite.<sup>4</sup> The outer/inner horizons are given by

$$r_{\pm} = \mu \left( 1 \pm \sqrt{1 - j^2} \right), \tag{3.17}$$

which lead to the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy

$$S_{BH} = \frac{\pi \sqrt{pq}}{2G_4 \hbar} \left( \frac{pq + 4\mu^2}{p + q} \sqrt{1 - j^2} + 2\mu \right).$$
(3.18)

The Hawking temperature is

$$\beta_H = \frac{1}{T_H} = \frac{\pi \sqrt{pq}}{\mu \hbar} \left( \frac{pq + 4\mu^2}{p + q} + \frac{2\mu}{\sqrt{1 - j^2}} \right).$$
(3.19)

On the event horizon, the rotational velocity  $\Omega_{\phi}$ , the electric potential  $\Phi_E$  and the magnetic potential  $\Phi_M$  in the 4D theory are

$$\Omega_{\phi} = \frac{p+q}{\sqrt{pq}} \frac{2\mu j}{2\mu(p+q) + (pq+4\mu^2)\sqrt{1-j^2}},$$
(3.20)

$$\Phi_E = \frac{\pi T_H}{2\mu G_4 \hbar} \sqrt{\frac{p(q^2 - \mu^2)}{p+q}} \left( p + \frac{2\mu}{\sqrt{1-j^2}} \right), \tag{3.21}$$

$$\Phi_M = \frac{\pi T_H}{2\mu G_4 \hbar} \sqrt{\frac{q(p^2 - \mu^2)}{p+q}} \left( q + \frac{2\mu}{\sqrt{1-j^2}} \right), \tag{3.22}$$

respectively. These physical quantities satisfy the first law of black hole thermodynamics:

$$dM = T_H dS + \Phi_E dQ + \Phi_M dP - \Omega_\phi dJ. \tag{3.23}$$

We also notice that, in terms of the 5D geometry, the potential  $\Omega_y$  corresponding to the Kaluza-Klein momentum is

$$\Omega_y = \frac{2G_4}{R} \Phi_E, \tag{3.24}$$

at the horizon.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We can take another extremal limit  $j \to 1$  with  $\mu$  fixed finite, which corresponds to the so-called "fast rotation" case. We will not consider this in this paper because the near horizon limit would be difficult to analyze.

Since we will focus on the extremal case in this paper, we show the explicit form of (3.3)-(3.8), (3.12)-(3.15) and (3.18) in that case here:

4

$$H_1 = \hat{r}^2 + p\hat{r} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{p^2q}{p+q}(1+j\cos\theta), \qquad (3.25)$$

$$H_2 = \hat{r}^2 + q\hat{r} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{pq^2}{p+q}(1-j\cos\theta), \qquad (3.26)$$

$$H_3 = \Delta = \hat{r}^2, \tag{3.27}$$

$$\mathbf{A} = -\frac{q^{3/2}}{\sqrt{p+q}} \left[ \hat{r} + \frac{p}{2} (1-j\cos\theta) \right] H_2^{-1} d\hat{t} + \left[ -\frac{p^{3/2}}{\sqrt{p+q}} \cos\theta + \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{pq^2}{p+q}} \left( p\hat{r} + \frac{p^2q}{p+q} \right) H_2^{-1} j\sin^2\theta \right] d\phi, \quad (3.28)$$

$$B = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(pq)^{3/2}}{p+q} \frac{j \sin^2 \theta}{\hat{r}} \, d\phi, \tag{3.29}$$

$$M = \frac{p+q}{4G_4},\tag{3.30}$$

$$J = \frac{(pq)^{3/2}}{4G_4(p+q)}j,$$
(3.31)

$$Q = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{q^3}{p+q}},$$
(3.32)

$$P = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{p^3}{p+q}},$$
(3.33)

$$S_{BH} = \frac{\pi}{2G_4\hbar} \frac{(pq)^{3/2}}{p+q} \sqrt{1-j^2} = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \sqrt{\frac{P^2 Q^2}{G_4^2} - J^2}.$$
(3.34)

Before closing this section, we rewrite the entropy calculated above in terms of the integer charges. As discussed in [34], the electric and the magnetic charges are quantized and written as

$$Q = \frac{2G_4\hbar N_0}{R}, \quad P = \frac{RN_6}{4}, \tag{3.35}$$

where  $N_6$  and  $N_0$  are integer numbers which corresponds to the number of D6-branes and D0-branes, respectively, if we embed the 5D KK black hole in IIA string theory with  $R = g_s l_s$ . In addition to this, J is also quantized as a result of the usual quantization of the angular momentum, so

$$J = \frac{\hbar N_J}{2},\tag{3.36}$$

where  $N_J$  is an integer. By using these quantized quantities, the entropy (3.34) in the extremal case is also written as a quantized form:

$$S_{\rm BH} = \pi \sqrt{N_0^2 N_6^2 - N_J^2}.$$
(3.37)

#### 4 Near-horizon geometry of extremal rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes

Here we derive the near horizon geometry of the extremal ( $\mu = 0$ ) rotating KK black holes. It is already investigated in [47, 48], and related discussions about symmetries of near-horizon geometries are given in [49].

We first introduce near horizon coordinates as

$$t = \lambda \hat{t}, \quad r = \frac{\hat{r}}{\lambda}, \quad y = \hat{y} - \frac{1}{R}\sqrt{\frac{p+q}{q}}\,\hat{t},$$

$$(4.1)$$

while  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  are unchanged although the black holes are rotating along the  $\phi$  direction. We will see that these coordinates are appropriate for obtaining the near-horizon geometry.

The near-horizon limit is defined as  $\lambda \to 0$  in (4.1). In this limit, under the extremal condition  $\mu = 0$ , the metric (3.2) turns to

$$ds^{2} = \frac{q}{p} \frac{1 - j\cos\theta}{1 + j\cos\theta} \left( Rdy + \frac{2r}{q(1 - j\cos\theta)} \sqrt{\frac{p + q}{q}} dt + \sqrt{\frac{p^{3}}{p + q}} \frac{j - \cos\theta}{1 - j\cos\theta} d\phi \right)^{2} - \frac{2(p + q)}{q^{2}p(1 - j\cos\theta)} \left( r \, dt + \frac{(pq)^{3/2}}{2(p + q)} j \sin^{2}\theta \, d\phi \right)^{2} + \frac{p^{2}q(1 + j\cos\theta)}{2(p + q)} \left( \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\phi^{2} \right),$$
(4.2)

which we call *near-horizon extremal rotating Kaluza-Klein* black hole (NHERKK) geometry. This geometry is a so-called squashed  $AdS_2 \times S^2$  with Kaluza-Klein U(1) fibration on it.

We can also rewrite (4.2) by introducing

$$\rho = \frac{r}{2PQ}, \quad z = \frac{R}{2P}y \tag{4.3}$$

as

$$ds^{2} = 2P^{4/3}Q^{2/3} \left[ \frac{2(1-j\cos\theta)}{1+j\cos\theta} \left( dz + \frac{\rho}{1-j\cos\theta} dt + \frac{j-\cos\theta}{1-j\cos\theta} d\phi \right)^{2} - \frac{1}{1-j\cos\theta} \left( \rho dt + j\sin^{2}\theta \, d\phi \right)^{2} + (1+j\cos\theta) \left( \frac{d\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2}} + d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\phi^{2} \right) \right], \quad (4.4)$$

where

$$z \sim z + 2\pi \frac{R}{2P}.\tag{4.5}$$

This metric is invariant under a transformation  $t \to Ct, \rho \to \rho/C$  for an arbitrary constant C.

Both of these coordinates here are of Poincaré-type, and they do not cover the whole space in a single patch. Like the usual  $AdS_2$  space, the whole NHERKK space is expected to have two disconnected boundaries. The boundary which is found in our coordinates is r(or  $\rho$ )  $\rightarrow \infty$ , which should be (a part of) one of the two. Therefore when we would like to focus on one of the dual chiral  $CFT_2$ 's, which lives on one of the two boundaries, we can expect that our coordinates work well.

## 5 Boundary conditions and central charges

In order to calculate the entropy of the rotating KK black holes, we have to determine the central charges of the Virasoro algebras which will act on the Hilbert spaces of the boundary theories.

# 5.1 Boundary conditions and asymptotic symmetry groups

By following the work by Brown and Henneaux [16], the first step is to find some boundary condition on the asymptotic variations of the metric and the ASG which preserves this boundary condition nontrivially. In fact, for the NHERKK metric (4.2), we can see that (at least) two different boundary conditions are allowed in order that some nontrivial ASG's exist.

### 5.1.1 Two boundary conditions for the metric

Let us suppose that the metric is perturbed as  $g_{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$  where  $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$  is (4.2) and  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is some deviation from it. One of the possible boundary conditions for  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is,

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_{tt} = \mathcal{O}(r^2) \ h_{tr} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r^2}) \ h_{t\theta} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \ h_{t\phi} = \mathcal{O}(r) \ h_{ty} = \mathcal{O}(1) \\ h_{rt} = h_{tr} \ h_{rr} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r^3}) \ h_{r\theta} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r^2}) \ h_{r\phi} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \ h_{ry} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \\ h_{\theta t} = h_{t\theta} \ h_{\theta r} = h_{r\theta} \ h_{\theta\theta} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \ h_{\theta\phi} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \ h_{\theta y} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \\ h_{\phi t} = h_{t\phi} \ h_{\phi r} = h_{r\phi} \ h_{\phi\theta} = h_{\theta\phi} \ h_{\phi\phi} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \ h_{\phi y} = \mathcal{O}(1) \\ h_{yt} = h_{ty} \ h_{yr} = h_{ry} \ h_{y\theta} = h_{\theta y} \ h_{y\phi} = h_{\phi y} \ h_{yy} = \mathcal{O}(1) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(5.1)$$

and a general diffeomorphism which preserves (5.1) is written as

$$\zeta = \left[ C_1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\right) \right] \partial_t + \left[ -r\gamma'(y) + \mathcal{O}(1) \right] \partial_r + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r}\right) \partial_\theta \\ + \left[ C_2 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right) \right] \partial_\phi + \left[ \gamma(y) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right) \right] \partial_y,$$
(5.2)

where  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  are arbitrary constants and  $\gamma(y)$  is an arbitrary function of y. From this, the asymptotic symmetry group is generated by the diffeomorphisms of the form<sup>5</sup>

$$\zeta^{\phi} = \partial_{\phi},\tag{5.3}$$

$$\zeta_{\gamma}^{y} = \gamma(y)\partial_{y} - r\gamma'(y)\partial_{r}.$$
(5.4)

Especially, (5.4) generates the conformal group of the Kaluza-Klein circle. To see that it really obeys the Virasoro algebra, we expand  $\gamma(y)$  in modes and define  $\gamma_n = -e^{-iny}$ . Then we can see that  $\zeta_n^y$ , which are defined as

$$\zeta_n^y = \gamma_n \partial_y - r \gamma_n' \partial_r, \tag{5.5}$$

which obey the Virasoro algebra under the Lie bracket as

$$[\zeta_m^y, \,\, \zeta_n^y]_{\text{Lie}} = -i(m-n)\zeta_{m+n}^y.$$
(5.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>(5.2) also includes  $\zeta^t = \partial_t$ , but it is excluded from the ASG by requiring a constraint which we will explain in § 5.1.2,

We notice that the Virasoro generators are constructed from r and y. In other words, we see that the generators of the Virasoro algebra act on only y-direction in the dual boundary field theory. Thus it is very different from the usual holographic dual  $CFT_2$  where the time direction t play some role. It seems that we cannot describe dynamical processes by using this Virasoro algebra, but at least to calculate the entropy, we can use the Virasoro algebra on the y-direction.

The other allowed boundary condition is,

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_{tt} = \mathcal{O}(r^2) & h_{tr} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r^2}) & h_{t\theta} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) & h_{t\phi} = \mathcal{O}(1) & h_{ty} = \mathcal{O}(r) \\ h_{rt} = h_{tr} & h_{rr} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r^3}) & h_{r\theta} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r^2}) & h_{r\phi} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) & h_{ry} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \\ h_{\theta t} = h_{t\theta} & h_{\theta r} = h_{r\theta} & h_{\theta\theta} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) & h_{\theta\phi} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) & h_{\theta y} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \\ h_{\phi t} = h_{t\phi} & h_{\phi r} = h_{r\phi} & h_{\phi\theta} = h_{\theta\phi} & h_{\phi\phi} = \mathcal{O}(1) & h_{\phi y} = \mathcal{O}(1) \\ h_{yt} = h_{ty} & h_{yr} = h_{ry} & h_{y\theta} = h_{\theta y} & h_{y\phi} = h_{\phi y} & h_{yy} = \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{r}) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(5.7)$$

and general diffeomorphism preserving (5.7) can be written as

$$\zeta = \left[ C_1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\right) \right] \partial_t + \left[ -r\epsilon'(\phi) + \mathcal{O}(1) \right] \partial_r + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r}\right) \partial_\theta \\ + \left[ \epsilon(\phi) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right) \right] \partial_\phi + \left[ C_3 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right) \right] \partial_y,$$
(5.8)

where  $C_1$ ,  $C_3$  are arbitrary constants and  $\epsilon(\phi)$  is an arbitrary function of  $\phi$ . The ASG is generated by

$$\zeta^{\phi}_{\epsilon} = \epsilon(\phi)\partial_{\phi} - r\epsilon'(\phi)\partial_{r}, \qquad (5.9)$$

$$\zeta^y = \partial_y. \tag{5.10}$$

In exactly the similar manner as above, we define  $\epsilon_n = -e^{-in\phi}$  and

$$\zeta_n^\phi = \epsilon_n \partial_\phi - r \epsilon_n' \partial_r, \tag{5.11}$$

which obey the Virasoro algebra

$$[\zeta_m^{\phi}, \,\, \zeta_n^{\phi}]_{\text{Lie}} = -i(m-n)\zeta_{m+n}^{\phi}.$$
(5.12)

In this case the Virasoro generator is constructed from r and  $\phi$ .

Here we assume that these two boundary conditions correspond to two different realizations of these classical theories in a full quantum theory of gravity, like string theory. We will see that these boundary conditions indeed lead to the correct black hole entropy. This suggests that this very interesting phenomenon, i.e. two completely different microscopic theories for one geometry, may be true.

Note that in each of these boundary conditions, the Virasoro symmetry comes from an enhancement of one of the two U(1) symmetries of the geometry, with the other remaining unenhanced. One may wonder whether both of the U(1) symmetries could be enhanced at the same time with  $\{\zeta_n^y\}$  and  $\{\zeta_n^\phi\}$  living together in the ASG, leading to a dual CFT with two Virasoro symmetries. For example, we can consider a more relaxed boundary

condition with  $h_{t\phi} = \mathcal{O}(r)$ ,  $h_{ty} = \mathcal{O}(r)$ ,  $h_{\phi\phi} = \mathcal{O}(1)$ ,  $h_{yy} = \mathcal{O}(1)$  and the other elements same as (5.1) and (5.7). This boundary condition indeed admits both  $\{\zeta_n^y\}$  and  $\{\zeta_n^\phi\}$ . However in this case, the ASG includes a wider class of diffeomorphisms, some of which are not commutative with  $\zeta^t$ . It means that we cannot fix the energy of the black hole, therefore this boundary condition cannot be regarded as consistent.<sup>6</sup>

#### 5.1.2 The energy constraint

Using (2.5), the asymptotic conserved charges corresponding to  $\zeta^t$ , (5.4) and (5.9) are defined by

$$Q_{\zeta^t} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_5} \int_{\partial \Sigma} k_{\zeta^t}, \quad Q_{\zeta^y_{\gamma}} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_5} \int_{\partial \Sigma} k_{\zeta^y_{\gamma}}, \quad Q_{\zeta^\phi_{\epsilon}} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_5} \int_{\partial \Sigma} k_{\zeta^\phi_{\epsilon}}, \tag{5.13}$$

where  $G_5 = 2\pi R G_4$  is the 5D Newtonian constant and  $k_{\zeta}$  is defined by (2.6). Obviously (5.3) and (5.10) are the cases of  $\epsilon = 1$  in (5.9) and  $\gamma = 1$  in (5.4) respectively, whose charges represent the variances of the angular momentum and the KK momentum. Similarly to the case of the 4D Kerr black hole, the generator  $\zeta^t$  is also included in the asymptotic symmetry algebra. Therefore we set  $Q_{\zeta^t} = 0$  identically in order that the black holes remain extremal.

#### 5.2 Central charges

Next we have to determine the centrally extended expressions of the Virasoro algebras. For the (r, y)-diffeomorphism (5.4), the second term on the right hand side of (2.7) is calculated as

$$\frac{1}{8\pi G_5} \int_{\partial \Sigma} k_{\zeta_m^y} [\mathcal{L}_{\zeta_n^y} \bar{g}, \bar{g}] = -i \frac{2}{G_4 R} Q \left( P^2 m^3 + \frac{R^2}{2} m \right) \delta_{m+n,0}.$$
(5.14)

From this, by defining the Virasoro operators  $L_m^y$  of y-direction as

$$\hbar L_m^y = Q_{\zeta_m^y} + \frac{1}{G_4 R} Q\left(P^2 + \frac{R^2}{2}\right) \delta_{m,0}, \qquad (5.15)$$

replacing  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\text{Dirac}} \to \frac{1}{i\hbar}[\cdot, \cdot]$  and substituting into (2.7), we finally have the Virasoro algebra

$$[L_m^y, \ L_n^y] = (m-n)L_{m+n}^y + \frac{2}{G_4R}QP^2(m^3-m)\,\delta_{m+n,0},\tag{5.16}$$

Therefore the central charge  $c^y$  is

$$c^y = \frac{24}{G_4\hbar R} QP^2 = 3N_0 N_6^2.$$
(5.17)

For the  $(r, \phi)$ -diffeomorphism (5.9), we can calculate the central charge in a similar manner. The second term on the right hand side of (2.7) is calculated as

$$\frac{1}{8\pi G_5} \int_{\partial \Sigma} k_{\zeta_m^{\phi}} [\mathcal{L}_{\zeta_n^{\phi}} \bar{g}, \bar{g}] = -iJ(m^3 - 2m)\delta_{m+n,0}.$$
(5.18)

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ We thank Andrew Strominger, for suggesting our mistakes at this point in the original version of this paper.

Then by defining  $L_m^{\phi}$  as

$$\hbar L_m^{\phi} = Q_{\zeta_m^{\phi}} - \frac{J}{2} \,\delta_{m,0}, \tag{5.19}$$

we can see that the Virasoro algebra is

$$[L_m^{\phi}, \ L_n^{\phi}] = (m-n)L_{m+n}^{\phi} + J(m^3 - m)\delta_{m+n,0}.$$
 (5.20)

Therefore the central charge  $c^{\phi}$  is

$$c^{\phi} = \frac{12}{\hbar}J = 6N_J. \tag{5.21}$$

Before closing this section, we note that the calculated central charges are integer numbers. In particular for (r, y) case, it is written by  $N_0$  and  $N_6$  only. This suggests that there is an underlying microscopic theory which is obtained from some weak coupling theory on D-branes. Since the central charge is completely different from the one obtained in [33, 34], it is highly interesting to investigate the corresponding D-brane system.

## 6 Temperatures

In the previous section, we derived the central charge of the Virasoro algebra for two cases. Next we have to determine the "temperature" T of the chiral  $CFT_2$  following [26], since entropy is microscopically calculated by the thermal representation of the Cardy formula

$$S = \frac{\pi^2}{3}cT.$$
(6.1)

For this purpose, let us consider a free scalar field  $\Psi$  propagating on (3.2). It can be expanded as

$$\Psi = \sum_{\omega,k,m,l} e^{-i\omega\hat{t} + ik\hat{y} + im\hat{\phi}} f_{m,l}(r,\theta),$$
(6.2)

where  $\omega$  is the asymptotic energy of the scalar field, while k and m are Kaluza-Klein momentum in the y-direction and the quantum number corresponding to the angular velocity respectively. We also notice that m, l label the spherical harmonics. Using the coordinates of the near-horizon geometry (4.1), we see that

$$e^{-i\omega\hat{t}+ik\hat{y}+im\hat{\phi}} = e^{-in^tt+in^yy+in^\phi\phi},\tag{6.3}$$

$$n^{t} = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( \omega - \frac{k}{R} \sqrt{\frac{p+q}{q}} \right), \quad n^{y} = k, \quad n^{\phi} = m.$$
(6.4)

After tracing out the states inside the horizon, we find that the vacuum state is expected to include a Boltzmann factor of the form

$$e^{-\frac{\hbar(\omega-k\Omega_y+m\Omega_\phi)}{T_H}} = e^{-\frac{n^t}{T^t} - \frac{n^y}{T^y} - \frac{n^\phi}{T^\phi}}.$$
(6.5)

The temperatures  $T^t$ ,  $T^y$  and  $T^{\phi}$  are calculated as

$$T^{t} = \frac{T_{H}}{\hbar\lambda}, \quad T^{y} = \frac{T_{H}}{\hbar\left(\frac{1}{R}\sqrt{\frac{p+q}{q}} - \Omega_{y}\right)}, \quad T^{\phi} = \frac{T_{H}}{\hbar\Omega_{\phi}}, \tag{6.6}$$

where we used (6.4). When  $\mu, \lambda \to 0$  as  $\mu/\lambda \to 0$ , we see that  $T^t \to 0$ , while  $T^y$  and  $T^{\phi}$  are

$$T^{y} = \frac{G_{4}R}{4\pi P^{2}Q}\sqrt{\frac{P^{2}Q^{2}}{G_{4}^{2}} - J^{2}} = \frac{1}{\pi N_{0}N_{6}^{2}}\sqrt{N_{0}^{2}N_{6}^{2} - N_{J}^{2}},$$
(6.7)

$$T^{\phi} = \frac{1}{2\pi J} \sqrt{\frac{P^2 Q^2}{G_4^2} - J^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi N_J} \sqrt{N_0^2 N_6^2 - N_J^2}.$$
 (6.8)

## 7 Microscopic entropy

Using (6.1), either from (5.17) and (6.7) or from (5.21) and (6.8), we finally obtain the microscopic entropy as

$$S_{micro} = \frac{\pi^2}{3} c^y T^y = \frac{\pi^2}{3} c^{\phi} T^{\phi}$$
$$= \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \sqrt{\frac{P^2 Q^2}{G_4^2} - J^2} = \pi \sqrt{N_0^2 N_6^2 - N_J^2},$$
(7.1)

which exactly agrees with each other and with the one derived macroscopically, (3.34). Note that the Cardy formula will be valid for  $T \gg 1$ , which is satisfied when  $N_0 N_6 \gg N_J$  for  $T^{\phi}$ . For other cases, like the Kerr/CFT correspondence [26], the Cardy formula is not guaranteed to be applicable although we hope it is.

Usually the Cardy formula is written as  $S = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{cL_0}{6}}$ . Therefore it is valuable to calculate the corresponding level of the Virasoro  $L_0$ . For (5.17) and (6.7), this can be written as

$$L_0^y = \frac{\pi^2}{6} c^y (T^y)^2 = \frac{R(P^2 Q^2 - G_4^2 J^2)}{4G_4 \hbar P^2 Q} = \frac{N_0^2 N_6^2 - N_J^2}{2N_0 N_6^2}.$$
(7.2)

Similarly for (5.21) and (6.8), we obtain

$$L_0^{\phi} = \frac{\pi^2}{6} c^{\phi} (T^{\phi})^2 = \frac{P^2 Q^2 - G_4^2 J^2}{2G_4^2 \hbar J} = \frac{N_0^2 N_6^2 - N_J^2}{4N_J}.$$
(7.3)

## 8 Conclusion and discussion

In this paper, we calculated the entropy of the extremal rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes microscopically by using Brown-Henneaux's method. Following [26], we imposed appropriate boundary conditions on the near horizon geometry of the black holes and then identified the diffeomorphisms which preserve the boundary conditions with the generators of the Virasoro algebras. Then by calculating the Dirac brackets of the corresponding conserved charges, we determined the Virasoro algebras with non-vanishing central charges. At the same time, we relate the physical parameters of the black holes with the quantum numbers on the near horizon geometry. Then we determined the temperatures of the dual chiral  $CFT_2$ 's. From the central charges and the temperatures, by using the Cardy formula, we calculated the entropy of the extremal rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes microscopically, which agrees with the one obtained macroscopically.

The rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes are known to be related to spinning D0-D6 bound states and we can also calculate the entropy from the D-brane viewpoint. Therefore we expect that we can obtain a deeper understanding of the chiral  $CFT_2$ 's by considering a relation between our calculation and that by using the D-brane configuration.

**Note added.** As this article was being completed, we received the preprint [50]. In that paper, the Kerr/CFT correspondence is applied to the higher dimensional Myers-Perry black holes and the Kerr-AdS black holes.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Andrew Strominger for valuable comments. T. A. is supported by the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS). S. T. is partly supported by the Japan Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT). This work was supported by the Grant-in-Aid for the Global COE Program "The Next Generation of Physics, Spun from Universality and Emergence" from the MEXT.

## References

- A. Strominger and C. Vafa, Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 99 [hep-th/9601029] [SPIRES].
- J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113] [hep-th/9711200] [SPIRES].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from non-critical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [SPIRES].
- [4] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [SPIRES].
- [5] J. Michelson and A. Strominger, The geometry of (super)conformal quantum mechanics, Commun. Math. Phys. 213 (2000) 1 [hep-th/9907191] [SPIRES].
- [6] J. Michelson and A. Strominger, Superconformal multi-black hole quantum mechanics, JHEP 09 (1999) 005 [hep-th/9908044] [SPIRES].
- [7] A. Maloney, M. Spradlin and A. Strominger, Superconformal multi-black hole moduli spaces in four dimensions, JHEP 04 (2002) 003 [hep-th/9911001] [SPIRES].
- [8] R. Britto-Pacumio, A. Strominger and A. Volovich, Two-black-hole bound states, JHEP 03 (2001) 050 [hep-th/0004017] [SPIRES].
- [9] R. Britto-Pacumio, A. Maloney, M. Stern and A. Strominger, Spinning bound states of two and three black holes, JHEP 11 (2001) 054 [hep-th/0106099] [SPIRES].

- [10] R. Britto-Pacumio, J. Michelson, A. Strominger and A. Volovich, Lectures on superconformal quantum mechanics and multi-black hole moduli spaces, hep-th/9911066 [SPIRES].
- [11] D. Gaiotto, A. Strominger and X. Yin, Superconformal black hole quantum mechanics, JHEP 11 (2005) 017 [hep-th/0412322] [SPIRES].
- [12] J.M. Maldacena and A. Strominger, AdS<sub>3</sub> black holes and a stringy exclusion principle, JHEP 12 (1998) 005 [hep-th/9804085] [SPIRES].
- [13] A. Strominger, AdS<sub>2</sub> quantum gravity and string theory, JHEP 01 (1999) 007 [hep-th/9809027] [SPIRES].
- [14] M. Spradlin and A. Strominger, Vacuum states for AdS<sub>2</sub> black holes, JHEP 11 (1999) 021
   [hep-th/9904143] [SPIRES].
- T. Azeyanagi, T. Nishioka and T. Takayanagi, Near extremal black hole entropy as entanglement entropy via AdS<sub>2</sub>/CFT<sub>1</sub>, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 064005 [arXiv:0710.2956] [SPIRES].
- [16] J.D. Brown and M. Henneaux, Central charges in the canonical realization of asymptotic symmetries: an example from three-dimensional gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 207 [SPIRES].
- [17] A. Strominger, Black hole entropy from near-horizon microstates, JHEP 02 (1998) 009 [hep-th/9712251] [SPIRES].
- [18] S. Carlip, Black hole entropy from conformal field theory in any dimension, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 2828 [hep-th/9812013] [SPIRES].
- [19] S. Carlip, Entropy from conformal field theory at Killing horizons, Class. Quant. Grav. 16 (1999) 3327 [gr-qc/9906126] [SPIRES].
- [20] M.-I. Park, Hamiltonian dynamics of bounded spacetime and black hole entropy: canonical method, Nucl. Phys. B 634 (2002) 339 [hep-th/0111224] [SPIRES].
- [21] S. Carlip, Near-horizon conformal symmetry and black hole entropy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 241301 [gr-qc/0203001] [SPIRES].
- [22] M. Cadoni and S. Mignemi, Entropy of 2D black holes from counting microstates, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 081501 [hep-th/9810251] [SPIRES].
- [23] M. Cadoni and S. Mignemi, Asymptotic symmetries of AdS<sub>2</sub> and conformal group in D = 1, Nucl. Phys. B 557 (1999) 165 [hep-th/9902040] [SPIRES].
- [24] A. Castro, D. Grumiller, F. Larsen and R. McNees, Holographic description of AdS<sub>2</sub> black holes, JHEP 11 (2008) 052 [arXiv:0809.4264] [SPIRES].
- [25] K. Hotta, Y. Hyakutake, T. Kubota, T. Nishinaka and H. Tanida, *The CFT-interpolating black hole in three dimensions*, *JHEP* 01 (2009) 010 [arXiv:0811.0910] [SPIRES].
- [26] M. Guica, T. Hartman, W. Song and A. Strominger, The Kerr/CFT correspondence, arXiv:0809.4266 [SPIRES].
- [27] G.T. Horowitz and M.M. Roberts, Counting the microstates of a Kerr black hole, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 221601 [arXiv:0708.1346] [SPIRES].
- [28] G.W. Gibbons and D.L. Wiltshire, Black holes in Kaluza-Klein theory, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 167 (1986) 201 [Erratum ibid. 176 (1987) 393] [SPIRES].
- [29] D. Rasheed, The rotating dyonic black holes of Kaluza-Klein theory, Nucl. Phys. B 454 (1995) 379 [hep-th/9505038] [SPIRES].
- [30] T. Matos and C. Mora, Stationary dilatons with arbitrary electromagnetic field, Class. Quant. Grav. 14 (1997) 2331 [hep-th/9610013] [SPIRES].

- [31] F. Larsen, Rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 575 (2000) 211
   [hep-th/9909102] [SPIRES].
- [32] N. Itzhaki, D6 + D0 and five dimensional spinning black hole, JHEP 09 (1998) 018
   [hep-th/9809063] [SPIRES].
- [33] R. Emparan and G.T. Horowitz, Microstates of a neutral black hole in M-theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 141601 [hep-th/0607023] [SPIRES].
- [34] R. Emparan and A. Maccarrone, Statistical description of rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 084006 [hep-th/0701150] [SPIRES].
- [35] J.M. Bardeen and G.T. Horowitz, The extreme Kerr throat geometry: a vacuum analog of  $AdS_2 \times S^2$ , Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104030 [hep-th/9905099] [SPIRES].
- [36] D. Anninos, W. Li, M. Padi, W. Song and A. Strominger, Warped AdS<sub>3</sub> black holes, arXiv:0807.3040 [SPIRES].
- [37] G. Barnich and F. Brandt, Covariant theory of asymptotic symmetries, conservation laws and central charges, Nucl. Phys. B 633 (2002) 3 [hep-th/0111246] [SPIRES].
- [38] G. Barnich and G. Compere, Surface charge algebra in gauge theories and thermodynamic integrability, J. Math. Phys. 49 (2008) 042901 [arXiv:0708.2378] [SPIRES].
- [39] L.F. Abbott and S. Deser, Stability of gravity with a cosmological constant, Nucl. Phys. B 195 (1982) 76 [SPIRES].
- [40] V. Iyer and R.M. Wald, Some properties of Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 846 [gr-qc/9403028] [SPIRES].
- [41] I.M. Anderson and C.G. Torre, Asymptotic conservation laws in field theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 77 (1996) 4109 [hep-th/9608008] [SPIRES].
- [42] C.G. Torre, Local cohomology in field theory with applications to the Einstein equations, hep-th/9706092 [SPIRES].
- [43] G. Barnich, F. Brandt and M. Henneaux, Local BRST cohomology in the antifield formalism.
  1. General theorems, Commun. Math. Phys. 174 (1995) 57 [hep-th/9405109] [SPIRES].
- [44] G. Barnich, F. Brandt and M. Henneaux, Local BRST cohomology in gauge theories, Phys. Rept. 338 (2000) 439 [hep-th/0002245] [SPIRES].
- [45] G. Barnich, Boundary charges in gauge theories: using Stokes theorem in the bulk, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) 3685 [hep-th/0301039] [SPIRES].
- [46] G. Compere, Symmetries and conservation laws in Lagrangian gauge theories with applications to the mechanics of black holes and to gravity in three dimensions, arXiv:0708.3153 [SPIRES].
- [47] D. Astefanesei, K. Goldstein, R.P. Jena, A. Sen and S.P. Trivedi, *Rotating attractors*, *JHEP* 10 (2006) 058 [hep-th/0606244] [SPIRES].
- [48] H.K. Kunduri and J. Lucietti, A classification of near-horizon geometries of extremal vacuum black holes, arXiv:0806.2051 [SPIRES].
- [49] H.K. Kunduri, J. Lucietti and H.S. Reall, Near-horizon symmetries of extremal black holes, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 4169 [arXiv:0705.4214] [SPIRES].
- [50] H. Lü, J. Mei and C.N. Pope, Kerr/CFT correspondence in diverse dimensions, arXiv:0811.2225 [SPIRES].